The Quantum Hourglass

Approaching time measurement with Quantum Information Theory

Paul Erker

Master Thesis, ETH Zürich

September 30, 2014

Abstract

In this thesis a general non-relativistic operational model for quantum clocks called quantum hourglass is devised. Taking results from the field of Quantum Information Theory the limitations of such time measurement devices are explored in different physical and informationtheoretic scenarios. It will be shown for certain cases that the time resolution of the quantum hourglass is limited by its power consumption.

> Supervisors: Prof. Dr. Renato Renner Dr. Yeong-Cherng Liang and Sandra Ranković

Contents

1	The	Past	3
2	The	Context	6
	2.1	Margolus-Levitin bound	8
		2.1.1 A generalized bound	10
		2.1.2 The adiabatic case $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	12
	2.2	Communication rate vs power consumption	13
3	Qua	ntum Hourglass	16
	3.1	Time resolution \ldots	19
	3.2	The hourglass as a quantum computer	20
		3.2.1 CNOT hourglass	21
		3.2.2 SWAP hourglass - quantum logic clock	23
		3.2.3 Algorithmic hourglass - Mesoscopic implementation	25
	3.3	Thermal hourglass	26
	3.4	de Broglie hourglass	33
	3.5	Relativistic considerations	36
4	Syn	chronization and Causality	39
5	The	Future	43
6	Con	clusion	49
7	Ack	nowledgements	50
8	Refe	erences	51

1 The Past

"Time is what the constant flow of *bits* of sand in an hourglass measures," one says.

Akimasa Miyake [1]

Time enters Quantum Theory in manifold ways. Since the early days of quantum theory this led to heated discussions about its nature. In a letter Heisenberg wrote to Pauli in November 1925, he commented:

Your problem of the time sequence plays, of course, a fundamental role, and I had figured out for my own private use (Hausgebrauch) something about it. First I believe that one can distinguish between "a coarse and a finer" time sequence. If a point in space does not assume in the new theory a definite role or can be formulated only symbolically, then the same is true for an instant of time of an event. But there always will exist a coarse time sequence, like a coarse position in space - that is, within our geometric visualization one will be able to carry out a coarse description. I think it might be possible that this coarse description is perhaps the only thing that can be demanded from the formalism [of quantum mechanics].[2]

In the following year Pauli wonders if the absence of a clear definition of the times of transition in Einstein's probabilistic treatment of absorption and emission, is due to a fundamental cause or the incompleteness of the theory. He concludes that, "this is very much debated, yet still an unsolved issue." [3, 4, 5]

In a footnote in the second edition of the "Handbuch der Physik" seven years later he gave a formal argument why the idea of introducing a selfadjoint time operator as the canonical conjugate to the Hamiltonian should be fundamentally abandoned. The introduction of such an operator would unavoidably lead to a new energy eigenstate with an unbounded spectrum. This is very undesirable as most physical systems of interest have bounded, semi-bounded or discrete spectra. This argument often referred to as a theorem, however enforced the view that time is a simple parameter, governing the evolution of quantum as well as classical systems. In recent years the development of research introducing such a time operator with relaxed conditions, e.g. not requiring self-adjointness, has led to a better understanding of times of arrival [4, 6].

Our inability to formulate a consistent theory with an observable for time brings another problem along, namely, the question 'how well can we observe time'. This is really important as we don't have access to the parameter t directly. One of the first widely recognized attempts to answer this question was given by Mandelstam and Tamm in 1945 [7]. In their observable-dependent energy-time uncertainty relation they refer to time characteristics of average expectation values. This approach however has its limitations [4, 5]. In this thesis a possible answer to the former question will be given more in the spirit of above quote by Heisenberg.

For this purpose a general non-relativistic operational model for quantum clocks called quantum hourglass will be introduced that has the ability to distinguish 'coarser and finer' time sequences depending on its implementation. Taking results from the field of Quantum Information Theory and other fundamental physical theories the limitations and properties of such time measurement devices are explored in different physical and information-theoretic scenarios. Moreover it will be shown that for cases where the interaction between the two parts (see section 3) of the quantum hourglass can be modeled by a qubit channel the time resolution of the quantum hourglass is limited by its power consumption.

The thesis will be organized as follows: In section 2 the basic concepts and mathematical notations will be introduced. Section 3 will include the introduction and the definition of the quantum hourglass. Furthermore different physical and information-theoretic scenarios will be discussed. Section 4 is a short excursus into the realms of synchronization and causality. Section 5 will discuss open questions and section 6 contains the conclusion.

2 The Context

Alle menschlichen Tätigkeiten sind bedingt durch die Tatsache, daß Menschen zusammenleben, aber nur das Handeln ist nicht einmal vorstellbar außerhalb der Menschengesellschaft.

Hannah Arendt [8]

In this work we make use of quantum systems A,B with corresponding finitedimensional Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_A, \mathcal{H}_B$ where |A|, |B| denote their dimensionality. According to the postulates of quantum mechanics the Hilbert space of a composite system is given by the tensor product $\mathcal{H}_{AB} := \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$. Furthermore the space of homomorphisms $\mathcal{M} : \mathcal{H}_A \to \mathcal{H}_B$ is written as $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}_A, \mathcal{H}_B)$. The state of a quantum system is again according to the postulates of quantum mechanics represented by a ket $|\phi\rangle_A$ element of some Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_A , hence exploiting the isomorphism $\mathcal{H}_A \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{C}, \mathcal{H}_A)$. Moreover, $\operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H})$ is the set of endomorphisms on \mathcal{H} , i.e. the homomorphisms from a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} to itself.

The eigenvalues of some operator $O_A \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H})$ are denoted as $\lambda_i(O_A)$ and its singular values as $s_i(O_A)$, where the subscript specifies the system the operator acts on. For the hermitian adjoint of some operator O we use the expression O^{\dagger} , additionally the set of hermitian operators on \mathcal{H} is defined by $\operatorname{Herm}(\mathcal{H}) := \{H \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}) : H = H^{\dagger}\}$. The trace of an Operator is defined as

$$\operatorname{Tr}(O_A) \equiv \sum_i \langle e_i | O_A | e_i \rangle \tag{1}$$

where $\{e_i\}_i$ is any orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_A .

The identity operator $\mathbb{1} \in \text{End}(\mathcal{H})$ maps any vector $|\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ to itself. It can be written as

$$\mathbb{1} = \sum_{i} |e_i\rangle\langle e_i| \tag{2}$$

for any orthonormal basis $\{e_i\}_i$ of \mathcal{H} .

The set of positive semi-definite operators that act on \mathcal{H} is denoted as $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H})$ and is defined as

$$\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}) := \{ O \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}) : \lambda_i(O) \ge 0 \quad \forall \ i \}.$$
(3)

In the following $S_{\leq}(\mathcal{H}) := \{\rho \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}) : 0 < \operatorname{Tr}(\rho) \leq 1\}$ will be the set of subnormalized quantum states acting on \mathcal{H} and $S_{=}(\mathcal{H}) := \{\rho \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}) :$ $\operatorname{Tr}(\rho) = 1\}$ be the set of all normalized states. We will also make use of the trace norm which is defined as

$$||O||_1 := \operatorname{Tr} \sqrt{O^{\dagger} O}. \tag{4}$$

To quantify the distance between any two quantum states $\rho, \sigma \in S_{\leq}$ we use the generalized fidelity, defined as

$$F(\rho,\sigma) := \left| \left| \sqrt{\rho} \sqrt{\sigma} \right| \right|_1 - \sqrt{(1 - \operatorname{Tr} \rho)(1 - \operatorname{Tr} \sigma)}$$
(5)

which in the case that either ρ or σ is normalized the above expression reduces to the standard fidelity

$$F(\rho,\sigma) := \left| \left| \sqrt{\rho} \sqrt{\sigma} \right| \right|_{1}.$$
(6)

A linear map $\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{H}_A, \mathcal{H}_B)$ is said to be positive if

$$\mathcal{E}(\rho) \ge 0 \quad \forall \quad \rho \in \mathcal{S} \tag{7}$$

and it is called completely positive if the map $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathbb{1}_C$ is positive for any

Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_C . Furthermore if $\operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{E}(\rho)) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho)$ holds for all $\rho \in \mathcal{S}$ the map \mathcal{E} is called trace preserving and trace-nonincreasing if $\operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{E}(\rho)) \geq \operatorname{Tr}(\rho)$.

In the following the reduced Planck 'Wirkungsquantum'

$$\hbar = \frac{h}{2\pi} = 1.054571726(47) \times 10^{-34} \text{J s}, \tag{8}$$

the speed of light in vacuum

$$c = 299792458 \frac{\mathrm{m}}{\mathrm{s}} \tag{9}$$

and the Stefan-Boltzmann constant

$$k_B = 5.670373(21) \times 10^{-8} \frac{W}{m^2 K^4},$$
 (10)

based on CODATA 2010 [9].

2.1 Margolus-Levitin bound

Until Margulos and Levitin published their classic paper in 1998, bounds placed on the minimal time needed for a state to evolve into an orthogonal state were always thought of in terms of the standard deviation of energy ΔE [10], i.e.

$$t_{\perp} \ge \frac{h}{4\Delta E}.\tag{11}$$

But these bounds don't place a limit on the velocity with which systems with bounded energy can evolve, since ΔE can be made arbitrarily large. Bounds based directly on the average energy of a system were also proposed [11, 12] but were only applicable to the rate of communication in bits, which can also lead to complications [13]. In the following the results by Margulos and Levitin will be discussed in a more detailed manner. Let $|\psi_0\rangle$ be an arbitrary quantum state. It can be written as a superposition of energy eigenstates, i.e.

$$|\psi_0\rangle = \sum_n c_n |E_n\rangle,\tag{12}$$

where we restrict ourselves to systems with a discrete spectrum. Furthermore assume w.l.o.g that the energy eigenstates are ordered in a non-decreasing fashion. Also we choose $E_0 = 0$.

Define the time it takes for $|\psi_0\rangle$ to evolve into an orthogonal state as τ_{\perp} . Then Margolus and Levitin showed that for a fixed average energy E, that

$$t_{\perp} \ge \frac{h}{4E}.\tag{13}$$

To prove this statement it is helpful to start with the observation that $|\psi_0\rangle$, after evolving for some time t, can be written as

$$|\psi_t\rangle = \sum_n c_n e^{-i\frac{E_n t}{h}} |E_n\rangle.$$
(14)

Now one can define the inner product of the initial state and the evolved state as a function of t. Let

$$S(t) := \langle \psi_0 | \psi_t \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n|^2 e^{-i\frac{E_n t}{\hbar}}$$
(15)

and look at the smallest possible t s.t. S(t) = 0. In order to achieve this task

let us look at the real part of S

$$\Re(S) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n|^2 \cos \frac{E_n t}{\hbar}$$
(16)

$$\geq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n|^2 \left(1 - \frac{2}{\pi} \left(\frac{E_n t}{\hbar} + \sin \frac{E_n t}{\hbar} \right) \right) \tag{17}$$

$$=1-\frac{2E}{\pi\hbar}t+\frac{2}{\pi}\Im\left(S\right)\tag{18}$$

where in the second line the inequality $\cos x \ge 1 - \frac{2}{\pi} (x + \sin x)$ for $x \ge 0$ was used. As S = 0 if and only if $\Im(S) = 0$ and $\Re(S) = 0$, from the last line the condition

$$1 - \frac{4E}{h}t \le 0 \tag{19}$$

is obtained. Thus equation (13) has been established.

2.1.1 A generalized bound

The inequality used to attain equation (17) may not be optimal in all cases. In 2006 Kosinski and Zych gave an elementary proof for bounds on the speed of quantum evolution [14] that gave a unified way to derive the Mandelstam-Tamm [7] bound as well as the Margolus-Levitin one [10]. A few months afterwards Zych together with Zielinkski used this technique to generalize the Margolus-Levitin bound [15]. It is quite insightful to have a closer look. By means of the spectral theorem one writes

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi | e^{\frac{-iHt}{\hbar}} | \psi \rangle &= \int e^{\frac{-iEt}{\hbar}} d\langle \psi | P_E | \psi \rangle \\ &= \int \cos\left(\frac{Ht_{\perp}}{\hbar}\right) d\langle \psi | P_E | \psi \rangle - i \int \sin\left(\frac{Ht_{\perp}}{\hbar}\right) d\langle \psi | P_E | \psi \rangle \end{aligned}$$

where the spectral measure in the decomposition of H was denoted P_E , $H = \int E dP_E$. For orthogonal states i.e. states that evolved for some t_{\perp} it follows that

$$\langle \psi | \cos\left(\frac{Ht_{\perp}}{\hbar}\right) | \psi \rangle = 0 = \langle \psi | \sin\left(\frac{Ht_{\perp}}{\hbar}\right) | \psi \rangle$$
 (20)

If one now assumes that an inequality of the form

$$f(x) \ge A\sin(x) + B\cos(x) \tag{21}$$

to hold for $x \ge 0$ (for the derivation of the Mandelstam-Tamm relation one needs to assume such an inequality to hold for all x) together with the observation that the expectation value of non-negative functions is also nonnegative we have that

$$\langle \psi | f\left(\frac{Ht}{\hbar}\right) - A\sin\left(\frac{Ht}{\hbar}\right) - B\cos\left(\frac{Ht}{\hbar}\right) |\psi\rangle = \qquad (22)$$

$$= \int \left[f\left(\frac{Et}{\hbar}\right) - A\sin\left(\frac{Et}{\hbar}\right) - B\cos\left(\frac{Et}{\hbar}\right) \right] d\langle\psi|P_E|\psi\rangle \ge 0$$
(23)

W.l.o.g. the ground state energy was set to zero here (as in the previous section). Now the combination of equation (20) and (23) already places restrictions on t_{\perp} , namely

$$\langle \psi | f\left(\frac{Ht_{\perp}}{\hbar}\right) | \psi \rangle \ge 0.$$
 (24)

In order to derive a different bound than the one given by Margolus and Levitin, Zielinski and Zych continue by using the following inequality

$$x^{\alpha} - \frac{\pi^{\alpha}}{2} + \frac{\pi^{\alpha}}{2}\cos x + \alpha\pi^{\alpha-1}\sin x \ge 0$$
(25)

which holds for all $x \ge 0$ and $\alpha > 0$. This inequality reduces to the inequality used to derive equation (17) if one sets $\alpha = 1$. For all $\alpha > 0$ it now holds that

$$t_{\perp} \ge \frac{\pi\hbar}{2^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \langle \psi | E^{\alpha} | \psi \rangle^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}} \ge 0$$
(26)

provided that $|\psi\rangle$ belongs to the domain of H^{α} . For certain states choosing $\alpha \neq 1$ can lead to a much better bound [15].

Note that these results can also be extended for the case of mixed states through Uhlmann's theorem [16]. Let be $\rho \in S$ and $|\xi\rangle$ some purification of ρ . For a trivial evolution of the purifying system i.e. the total system evolves with $H \otimes 1$, it holds that

$$F(\rho, \rho(t)) \ge \left| \langle \xi | \xi(t) \rangle \right|^2.$$
(27)

2.1.2 The adiabatic case

Let us shortly review what happens in the case of an adiabatic evolution. Consider a system where a time-dependent Hamiltonian H(t) governs the evolution of the given quantum system through the Schrödinger equation

$$i\hbar \frac{d}{dt}|\psi(t)\rangle = H(t)|\psi(t)\rangle.$$
 (28)

Adiabaticity means that H(t) is slowly varying. This very case has been analyzed by the authors of [17]. In the following a little review of their results will be given.

Let $E_0(t)$ and $E_1(t)$ be the energy of the ground and the first excited state for some time dependent Hamiltonian H(t).

Then the minimum gap between these two quantities is given by

$$\omega_{\min} = \min_{0 \le t \le T} \left[E_0(t) - E_1(t) \right].$$
(29)

Furthermore denote the maximum value of the matrix element $\frac{dH(t)}{dt}$ between the eigenstates by

$$\Omega_{max} = \max_{0 \le t \le T} \left| \left\langle \frac{dH(t)}{dt} \right\rangle_{1,0} \right| = \max_{0 \le t \le T} \left| \left\langle E_1(t) | \frac{dH(t)}{dt} | E_0(t) \right\rangle \right|.$$
(30)

Now the adiabatic theorem [18] tells us that if we first prepare our system in the ground state at t = 0 and then let the system evolve according to H(t)for some time T then

$$\left|\left\langle E_0(T)|\psi(T)\right\rangle\right|^2 \ge 1 - \epsilon^2 \tag{31}$$

given that

$$\Omega_{max}\omega_{min}^{-2} \le \epsilon \tag{32}$$

with $0 \le \epsilon \le 1$.

Such systems have recently caught a lot of attention since it was established that adiabatic quantum computing is possible [19]. This is very favourable since it is a nice way around the problem of energy relaxation. Here the focus shall lie on the Margolus-Levitin like bound given for systems evolving adiabatically. For such systems Andrecut and Ali proved in [17] by non-linear interpolation that the minimum time from one state to an orthogonal state is given by

$$T(E) = \frac{\pi\hbar}{2E\epsilon} \tag{33}$$

for a constant minimum energy gap $\omega_{min} = E$.

2.2 Communication rate vs power consumption

A very nice application of the Margolus-Levitin bound was given by Lloyd in 2003 [20]. Here his results are reviewed in more detail.

Let us start with the simplest model of a quantum channel namely the qubit

channel. That is a channel that transmits a qubit from Alice to Bob [21]. Alice and Bob are both in possession of two-level quantum system. Alice holds an initial state $|\psi\rangle$ while Bob's system is initialized in some standard state, e.g. $|0\rangle$. After the transmission Bob has received the state $|\psi\rangle$. By choosing $|\psi\rangle$ one can either transmit classical information, 0 or 1¹, or quantum information $|\psi\rangle = \alpha |0\rangle + \beta |1\rangle$ with $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1$.

Now if Alice wants to transmit a 1 to Bob, Bob's state has be rotated by an angle of π . As we have seen in the previous sections such a transformation in time t_{\perp} requires an energy of the complete system above the ground state of $E_1 \geq \frac{\pi\hbar}{2t_{\perp}}$. For an average energy $\langle E \rangle = p_0 E_0 + p_1 E_1$ with p_0 and p_1 denoting the probabilities that a 0 or a 1 is sent respectively. For a channel where a 1 is sent with probability $\frac{1}{2}$ Alice transmits a bit to Bob at a rate

$$C_1 = \frac{1}{t_\perp} = \sqrt{4\frac{P}{\pi\hbar}}.$$
(34)

Then the power is given by

$$P = \frac{\langle E \rangle}{t_{\perp}}.\tag{35}$$

This limitation of the communication rate by the square root of the power invested is very akin to the fundamental limits of computation derived in [22]. The bound for the rate of transformation holds whether the transformation considered is due to communication, computation or work. This should not be surprising from a standpoint where the laws of nature are concerned how information can be communicated and processed.

Another interesting example considered in [20] is the case where one uses M uncoupled qubit channels. In this case an overall rate is \sqrt{M} times greater than the one that the single qubit channel can attain. If one allows for

¹Encoded into the states $|\psi\rangle = |0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$ respectively.

coupling of these channels, even a rate of [20]

$$C_M = M \sqrt{\frac{2P}{(1 - 2^{-M})\pi\hbar}}.$$
 (36)

is possible. Thus communicating M bits in the same time t_{\perp} with the same overall power P available. Evidently entanglement [23, 24] can help in increasing the number of bits communicated within some time but cannot increase the speed of the transformation.

It should also be noted that the rate C_1 can be enhanced by using strategies that avoid sending a 1 or by using error correction techniques where one avoids rotating for full angle π [20]. The maximum limit of such enhancements is not known and therefore remains an interesting open question to be tackled.

3 Quantum Hourglass

...: anything goes.

Paul Feyerabend [25]

The simple model for a non-relativistic quantum clock which will be called quantum hourglass or simply hourglass consists of two parts. The first part is the system that is used as some sort of cursor and the second will be a register system where information about the first should be stored available to read out.

Since in the quantum world it is not possible to just look at the cursor of a clock as if nothing has happened, such a splitting seems very intuitive. Aside the interaction Hamiltionian H_{int} coupling the cursor system C to the register system R both systems are assumed to have their autonomous evolution governed by their local Hamiltonians, H_C and H_R respectively. In general the evolution of the systems and the mutual interaction between them can be seen as completely positive (trace-nonincreasing) maps due to the Choi–Jamiołkowski isomorphism [26, 27, 28]. Let the initial state of the cursor system C and register system R be given by

$$\rho_C \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}_C) \quad \text{and} \quad \rho_R \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}_R)$$
(37)

where $d_C := \dim\{\mathcal{H}_C\}$, $d_R := \dim\{\mathcal{H}_R\}$ are the dimensions of the cursor and the register system. Here it is omitted specifying any more details in order to keep as much generality as possible. This enables the construction of different types of hourglasses by specifying more details rigorously. This price is being paid willingly. Somewhat along the line of a quotation (presumably) by Bohr; 'Truth and clarity are complementary' [29, 30].

To avoid having to make assumptions about some global background time and/or its properties the quantum hourglass is placed in an isolated lab. In the case that the laboratory is truly isolated that the overall state ('going to the church of the larger Hilbert space') is pure

$$|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{CRL}.$$
 (38)

Furthermore some local parameter t that is not accessible to the hourglass is assumed. A schematic illustration of the hourglass is given in figure 1. Making further assumptions about the parameter t is not necessary because from the work of Wootters and Page [31, 32] we know that we can replace the notion of time by correlations. Thus even in a stationary pure state we can observe a time evolution in a subsystem from the perspective of a different subsystem. This astonishing and philosophically striking result shows us another peculiarity of quantum theory and has recently found its way to experiment [33].



Figure 1: Quantum hourglass in an isolated lab with temperature T

Note that the quantum hourglass described here includes the model used in

the philosophical comment [34] where the author defines an hourglass as an isolated quantum system that can radiate. This assertion is justified as the radiation emitted by the quantum system can be seen as a register system in the sense defined above. Furthermore, parallel to this work a clock construction that is equivalent to a quantum hourglass with trivial evolution on the register system R was developed by Ranković, Liang and Renner [35].



Figure 2: Quantum hourglass with battery B and memory M in an isolated lab with temperature T

In addition to the above mentioned splitting of the quantum hourglass, it can be equipped with two more operationally different parts, namely a battery system B and a memory system M as depicted in figure 2. Especially the battery system B will turn out to be necessary as it will be shown in the next chapter that a time measuring device as the quantum hourglass has a power consumption related to its time resolution in case that the interaction can be modeled by a qubit channel.

3.1 Time resolution

Assume that H_{int} can be modeled as a completely positive and trace-preserving map \mathcal{E} with which the system C acts on the register R. Thus from a quantum information point of view the quantum hourglass can be seen as a quantum channel from the cursor system C to the register system R. Let us review the simplest case, namely, the qubit channel. Already here one can make a powerful statement about the limitations on the time resolution of such an hourglass. As shown in chapter 2 there is a minimal time that a quantum system needs to undergo an evolution to reach a state orthogonal to the initial state. For a clock to 'tick' something has to happen. As discussed in section 2.2 sending a 0 down the channel does not cause any transformation of the register. Nevertheless sending a 1 implies that the register qubit needs to be rotated by an angle π . This in turn requires an average energy of the overall system above the ground state of at least $E_1 \geq \frac{\pi\hbar}{2t_{\perp}}$. Thus a 'tick' is defined as sending a 1 in this case and consequently $\frac{1}{t_{\perp}}$ is the highest possible 'tick' rate, i.e. the maximal time resolution of the hourglass. Because of equation (35) we know that on average [20]

$$P \ge \frac{\pi\hbar}{4t_{\perp}^2}.\tag{39}$$

This sets a fundamental limit to the time resolution of clocks where the interaction can be modeled as qubit channel.

As mentioned in section 2.2 one can make use of M entangled channels to send M bits with the same amount of power P. This however does not improve the time resolution of the quantum hourglass as one still needs t_{\perp} to accomplish this task. Still it is surely useful to increase its accuracy and/or precision. Note that the power consumed does not need to be definitely lost, i.e. dissipated to the environment, but can possibly be recovered if the procedure is implemented reversibly. The power needed to run the hourglass is provided by the battery B.

3.2 The hourglass as a quantum computer

Building on the ideas of Feynman [36] a class of Hamiltonian based quantum computing models have been developed in the last years. Time-independent or slowly-varying Hamiltonians are used for the composition of a sequence of local unitaries, i.e. a quantum circuit. The L gates

$$U = U_L \dots U_2 U_1. \tag{40}$$

are encoded into the history state $|\psi\rangle$ where the second system keeps track of the progress

$$|\psi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L+1}} \sum_{t=0}^{L} \left(U_t \dots U_2 U_1 |\phi\rangle_C \right) \otimes |t\rangle_R \,. \tag{41}$$

It is clear that these two systems can be identified with the cursor system C on the one hand and the register system R on the other hand, already indicated in the notation above. Systems of the above form are computationally universal, for example using the 3-local railroad-switch Hamiltonian presented in [37]. Thus the quantum hourglass is as well a universal model of quantum computation if the restrictions placed are weak enough to allow for the implementation of a universal set of gates.

This does not come suprising as one may think of the Turing machine as a clock as well. When the writting head is seen as the dynamical system or cursor and the initial state of the register and the computation to be performed is known, reading out the register gives information on the time passed.

The existing analysis of such systems however focuses on obtaining the result of the computation $|\phi\rangle_t = U |\phi\rangle$ and not using a (possibly trivial) computa-

tion as cursor for a time measurement. Still there are some results obtained in the recent past that are very interesting for this purpose and they are discussed further in light of this new context. Especially using the correspondence of our simple non-relativistic model for a quantum clock with Hamiltonian quantum computing models to measure time algorithmically seems very appealing.

Also note reference [38] where the authors use a model that is an hourglass where the cursor system is taken to perform a continuous time quantum walk (they call their model 'machine') to write down the explicit Lindblad evolution of the system. Furthermore they give a series of very interesting results on speed and entropy of such systems and explore possible ways to reduce the entropy generation in the clocked system.

3.2.1 CNOT hourglass

A possible implementation of an hourglass with time resolution saturating equation (39) can be given in terms of the CNOT hourglass depicted in figure 3.



Figure 3: CNOT hourglass with trivial evolution on the ancilla systems

Here the cursor system system C is represented by a qubit, i.e. $d_C = 2$ and the interaction between system C and the register R is given by the CNOT gate, which flips the register bit if the cursor system C is found in state $|1\rangle$. Thus this operation can be represented by the following matrix

$$CNOT := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (42)

Initializing the *n* register qubits in the $|0\rangle$ state the state of the hourglass after the first step would be given by

$$|\psi_1\rangle_{CR} = CNOT_{CR_1} \left(U_C \otimes U_{R_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes U_{R_n} \left(|\psi\rangle_C \otimes |0\rangle_{R_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes |0\rangle_{R_n} \right) \right)$$

$$(43)$$

Assuming that this process saturates the Margolus-Levitin bound given in section 2.1 it can be performed at a rate of $\frac{2E}{\pi\hbar}$ per second. Here E is the average energy of the logic gate that performs the operation.

After running this process $m \leq n$ times the hourglass will be in the state

$$|\psi_m\rangle_{CR} = U_{CR_1\dots R_m} \left(|\psi\rangle_C \otimes |0\rangle_{R_1} \otimes \dots \otimes |0\rangle_{R_n}\right)$$
(44)

where

$$U_{CR_1...R_m} = (CNOT_{CR_m} (U_C \otimes U_{R_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes U_{R_n}))$$
$$\dots (CNOT_{CR_1} (U_C \otimes U_{R_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes U_{R_n})).$$

The measured time can be read out from the register system R by measuring the ancilla qubits in system R. In the optimal case one recovers m 'ticks' which gain meaning of time by the scale given through the energy of the interaction, thus $t = mt_{\perp} = \frac{m\hbar}{2E}$.

3.2.2 SWAP hourglass - quantum logic clock

Recent experimental advances enabled physicists to construct a clock performing metrology at the 17th decimal place [39]. The authors of the mentioned publication named the design quantum logic clock due to its inherent use of quantum logic [40, 41]. The quantum hourglass model is well suited to describe this new kind of clock. In principle it is a more complex form of a CNOT clock where the mutual motional degree of freedom (register system R_1) of two ions in the same trap is used to map the state of the spectroscopy ion (cursor system C) onto the logic ion (register system R_2).

First the system as a whole is cooled to its ground state. Then a coherent pulse U_C is applied near the transition resonance of the spectroscopy ion chosen as a time scale. A π pulse on the red sideband causes it to swap its state with the motional degree of freedom [40]. Finally the state is swapped onto the state of the logic ion by applying a π pulse on its red sideband. The logic ion can then be projectively read out without affecting the state of the spectroscopy too much. The action of U_C on the cursor system can be generally written as

$$U_C \left| 0 \right\rangle_C = \alpha \left| 0 \right\rangle_C + \beta \left| 1 \right\rangle_C \tag{45}$$

where $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1$, hence

$$|\psi\rangle_{CR_1R_2} = |0\rangle_C \otimes |0\rangle_{R_1} \otimes |0\rangle_{R_2} \tag{46}$$

$$\longrightarrow^{U_C} (\alpha |0\rangle_C + \beta |1\rangle_C) \otimes |0\rangle_{R_1} \otimes |0\rangle_{R_2}$$
(47)

$$\longrightarrow^{\pi_C} |0\rangle_C \otimes (\alpha |0\rangle_{R_1} + \beta |1\rangle_{R_1}) \otimes |0\rangle_{R_2}$$
(48)

$$\longrightarrow^{\pi_{R_2}} |0\rangle_C \otimes |0\rangle_{R_1} \otimes (\alpha |0\rangle_{R_2} + \beta |1\rangle_{R_2}).$$
(49)

The process described is shown below in figure 4.



Figure 4: SWAP hourglass - quantum logic clock in a quantum circuit representation

The SWAP gate above depicted above can be represented by the following matrix

$$SWAP := \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (50)

By iterating this process one can obtain the values of α and β thereby determining the ion's transition frequency given precise knowledge of the spectroscopy probe frequency.

The reminiscence to the CNOT hourglass is highlighted by the identity in figure 5.



Figure 5: SWAP-CNOT identity [42]

3.2.3 Algorithmic hourglass - Mesoscopic implementation

Since in experiment any observation is bound to be finite one can think of an optimal time measurement as counting the smallest steps of change possible. Thus one can think of the time measurement problem as a counting problem. In quantum information theory algorithms are a well-liked approach to solve problems (approximately) that cannot be solved directly. In 1998 Brassard, Høyer and Tapp introduced the quantum counting algorithm [43] by complementing Grover's iteration [44] with Shor's factoring algorithm [45]. Here these ideas are used for the ability to think about an hourglass that counts algorithmically. Based on the results of Lesovik, Suslov and Blatter [46] a possible implementation on a mesoscopic scale is introduced. Such a device may prove useful in the future where the miniaturization of machines leads to a need of time measuring devices operating in the quantum regime.

Using more technical terms the state of the passing particles $|n\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_C$, where \mathcal{H}_C is the Hilbert space spanned by the number states $|0\rangle$, $|1\rangle |2\rangle$,..., $|N\rangle$, is considered. The information encoded in $|n\rangle$ we want to read out using the K qubits in the register system R. The ingenious trick used by Lesovik, Suslov and Blatter [46] is to count the passage of the particles of system C in a Fourier basis in the register. Thus the passage of the particles transforms the initial state of the register qubits $\mathcal{F}(|0\rangle_R)$ in system R into a state

$$\mathcal{F}(|n
angle_R) \propto \sum_{j=0}^{2^K-1} e^{2i\pi n j} |j
angle_R.$$

This means that such a coupling enables one to count the passage of the particles in a binary fashion $|n\rangle_R = |n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_K\rangle$ where $n = n_1 2^{K-1} + n_2 2^{K-2} + \cdots + n_K 2^0$. Applying a inverse quantum Fourier transformation to the final state one would be able to access the full information encoded in the K register qubits through a single-shot measurement. It is also possible



Figure 6: Mesoscopic implementation of an algorithmic hourglass based on [46]

to use a semi-classical scheme where a sequential conditional read out of the register qubits is used [46].

Depending on the system such an hourglass is implemented in the time scales giving physical meaning to the measurement outcome vary. Under dc bias conditions (with voltage V) single-electrons are seperated by the voltage time $t = \frac{h}{eV}$ when their wavefunctions are generated by unit-flux voltage pulses of Lorentzian shape [47, 48]. Here $e = 1.602176565(35) \times 10^{-19}C$ [9] denotes the single-electron charge. An alternative approach works in the quantum Hall regime injecting single-electrons from a quantum dot into an edge channel. Here the typical times $t = \frac{h}{\delta T}$ are found on the nanosecond scale [49]. T is denotes the tunneling probability and δ the level seperation between states in the quantum dot.

3.3 Thermal hourglass

There is an intimate connection between time and temperature. Evidence for such a relationship can already be found in the early universe. As most astrophysical cosmologist see it today there was a precise connection between both [50]. This relation at the time when relativistic particles dominated the density of the universe is thought to be

$$t \propto T^{-2} \tag{51}$$

where T from now on denotes the temperature. Another very interesting evidence lies in the connection between the 'time-asymmetry', i.e. the perception that we live in a world that has a preferred direction of time and the second law of thermodynamics has been discussed in great detail over the last decades (see [51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57] and references therein). From the quantum information theory point view this is very interesting discussion as there exists a fundamental feature within the theory that may well underly this phenomena, the data processing inequality. Loosely speaking it states that the amount of information in a quantum system cannot be increased by acting on it locally. Formally the data processing inequality can be written as

$$\tilde{H}(A|BC)_{\rho} \le \tilde{H}(A|B)_{\rho} \tag{52}$$

where \tilde{H} is some entropy measure and $\tilde{H}(A|B)$ denotes the conditional entropy of some quantum system $\rho_{AB} \in S$. The first proof was given by Lieb and Ruskai in the early 70's [58]. The data processing inequality comes with a lot of interesting features and has also has a scientifically thrilling history, but this thesis shall not be concerned with telling this story and refers the interested reader to the existing literature [59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70].

As Page and Wootter [31, 32] have shown an overall static (pure) state $|\psi\rangle$ can still inhibit an time evolution if one takes the perspective of one of the subsystems due to the correlation of the overall system. Recently Popescu, Short and Winter [71] came up with a very astonishing result namely that for almost all pure states a subsystem will be thermal. Due to the leakage of information to the environment the entanglement is expected to increase.

This reinforces nearly forgotten ideas brought up by Lloyd in his 1988 PhD thesis [72] where he suggests that the arrow of time is an arrow of increasing correlations.

As we have seen above there is a cluster of problems concerning the notion of time intertwining the different well-established physical theories we know today. It seems that the problem of the conception of time lies in the core of a possible unification of General Relativity, Thermodynamics and Quantum Theory. A quite radical idea solving some of these problems is given by the introduction of thermal time [73].

Here the possible workings of two thermal hourglasses measuring time in a well-controlled thermodynamic environment are sketched. In an interesting arXiv preprint it was shown last month that even a single qubit can be used as a thermometer [74]. Further Stace shows in a paper [75] that a Heisenberg scaling ($\sim \frac{1}{N}$) is attainable in thermometry for thermometers that are not fully thermalized. In order to do so he maps the problem of temperature measurement for a bosonic system to the phase estimation problem. Although such proposal is probably far from being implementable in experiment (if one believes in Moore's law not too far) it shows that for specific systems a clock can be seen as a thermometer and vice versa.



Figure 7: Interferometric implementation of a thermal hourglass where bath C is used as a cursor

The hourglass provides an adequate setting for an analysis of such a possible thermal time measuring device. An interferometric approach is depicted in figure 7. Here a well-controlled thermal bath, e.g. consisting of M noninteracting two-level systems, is used as a cursor system C, s.t. the state is given by

$$\rho_C = \frac{e^{-\beta H}}{Z} \tag{53}$$

where $\beta = \frac{1}{k_B T}$ is the inverse temperature and $Z = \text{Tr}(e^{-\beta H})$ denotes the partition function. The register system R is similarly given by N noninteracting two-level systems. Here $N \ll M$ is needed in order not to disturb the bath too much. A suitable interaction can be given by the Hamiltonian presented in [75]

$$H_{int} = \alpha \sum_{k=1}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{N} |1\rangle \langle 1|_{C_k} \otimes |1\rangle \langle 1|_{R_j}$$
(54)

where α is the square root of the expected number of photons n in a coherent pulse $|\alpha\rangle$ defined as $|\alpha|^2 = n$. Through the mutual interaction of the bath (cursor) and the register, the state of register in the upper interferometer arm gains a phase $\phi = \alpha mt$. Here m is the number of systems in the excited state and is assumed to be known. It is a prominent result in quantum metrology that the ultimate limit for the precision of the measurement of the phase ϕ is given by the Heisenberg-limit [76, 77], i.e. $\sigma_{\phi} \propto \frac{1}{N}$. Thus knowing α and m precisely one can estimate t with the same precision.

Another interesting approach would be to take two thermal baths for the cursor system. A schematic sketch is given in figure 8. Instead of trying to distinguish the two different temperatures of the baths as chosen in [74], the distinguishability of the states given by the interaction with either bath 1 or bath 2 is used to measure time. The distinguishability Δ in terms of the trace distance is given by

$$\Delta := \frac{1}{2} ||\rho_1(T_1, t) - \rho_2(T_2, t)||_1$$
(55)

where ρ_1 and ρ_2 are the states after the interaction with bath 1 or bath 2 respectively. Essentially this approach works as the Δ shows a peak [74] defining a time t unambiguously depending solely on the temperatures T_1 and T_2 . The workings of this thermal hourglass can be understood as distinguishing between two completely positive maps \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E}_2 .



Figure 8: Thermal hourglass where the cursor system C consists of bath 1 and bath 2 in an isolated lab with temperature T

Yet another approach that will just be mentioned and not be discussed further, is to take both the cursor system C and the register R to be given by thermal baths. Two schematic illustrations are by figure 9 and figure 10. How well such an hourglass is able to measure time or what conclusions can be drawn from such an approach about the relation of time and temperature remains open for future research.



Figure 9: Thermal hourglass with cursor bath C and register bath R where $T_C \ge T_R$ in an isolated lab with temperature T

As a closing remark for this topic it is noted that thermodynamic interactions are far from being adequately well-controlled in experiment in order to provide time resolutions and precision/accuracies comparable to other forms of interaction. This is mirrored by the fact that the value of the Stefan-Boltzmann constant k_B is the one of least precisely measured fundamental constants. Only Newton's gravitational constant G surpasses k_B in relative uncertainty (based on CODATA set 2010 [9]).



Figure 10: Thermal hourglass with cursor bath C and register bath R where $T_R \ge T_C$ in an isolated lab with temperature T

3.4 de Broglie hourglass

Since de Broglie wrote his Nobel prize winning Ph.D. thesis in 1924 we know that matter can be viewed as a wave [78]. His hypothesis was soon confirmed by the electron diffraction experiments of Davisson and Germer [79] yielding a shared Nobel prize for both of them. How does this relate to the hourglass? Well, already in his Ph.D. thesis de Broglie conjectured that a particle at rest with energy $E = m_0 c^2$ has an internal clock with a frequency

$$\nu_0 = \frac{m_0 c^2}{h}.\tag{56}$$

Hestenes linked this ideas to the Zitterbewegung (half of the former) suggested by Schrödinger [80] in series of papers pleading in favor of nonmetaphorical interpretation of the former [81]. Whatsoever interpretation of this frequency one might think of, making use of it seems very appealing. Not only would it fundamentally link the units of mass and time (the SI unit kilogram is still defined with respect to the international prototype kilogram in Paris [82]) given a fixed value of \hbar , the access to such a high frequency would also enable time resolutions order of magnitudes higher then the one used for today's definition of a second [83] defined solely by the particle's mass.

Unfortunately present-day technology has no direct access to such high frequencies yet. It might even be that the de Broglie frequencies may be unobservable. A strong point against this pessimistic view was made Müller and his collaborators from the UC Berkeley's Department of Physics [84]. Their claim that they have gained access to the de Broglie frequency by means of an atom interferometer has resulted in a heated subsequent discussion (which certainly is fertile for our collective scientific enterprise). Their antagonists including Bordé and Cohen-Tannoudji assert that the interferometer under consideration is actually no atomic clock [85, 86]. As an atomic clock oscillating at de Broglie frequency would need two states in the two arms of the interferometer, that differ at least by mc^2 . Most of their discussion evolves around whether the mentioned atomic interferometer, denoted compton clock (the name certainly bears an experimentalist bias) by Müller and his collaborators, is able to test the gravitational redshift or not. As this is out of the scope of this thesis, the interested reader is referred to the following references for the discussion [85, 86, 87, 88, 89] and a proposed resolution of the controversy [90].



Figure 11: Matter-antimatter clock - de Broglie hourglass in an isolated lab with temperature T

In this thesis an optimistic standpoint is taken conjecturing that a de Broglie hourglass is possible, i.e. a time measuring device that is referenced to the de Broglie frequency of a particle. Such an hourglass would need a suitable interaction allowing the register to record the evolution of the cursor system. One could think of the scenario where it is technically possible to control electron-positron annihilation, in such a case the produced photon pair with frequencies referenced to the particle rest mass (~ 0.5 MeV) could then be taken as a register system. This in principle even works for heavier particles but the achievability of this approach depends highly on our ability

to directly or indirectly measure high frequencies ($\sim 10^8$ THz). Figure 11 sketches a possible matter-antimatter clock/de Broglie hourglass.

Note different other experimental attempts to access or simulate the de Broglie frequency/Zitterbewegung in [91, 92, 93].

3.5 Relativistic considerations

The intricate role that time plays in unifying quantum theory with other well-established fields in physics such as Relativity Theory and Thermodydamics was already briefly pointed out in the previous sections. Particularly its notion seems to be at the core of the problem in formulating a quantum theory of gravity. This has been pointed out repeatedly [94, 95, 96, 97]. Nonetheless this section covers possible relativistic effects on the quantum hourglass.

So far the discussion of relativistic effects on the quantum hourglass was omitted, persisting upon the definition of the hourglass as a non-relativistic model. This assumption is quite unsound and was only made to simplify the analysis of the hourglass given so far. If spacetime is assumed to be classical one can work within Quantum Field Theory, allowing for reasoning about gravitational and motional effects on the hourglass, describing matter and light by quantized fields. In [98] the authors study a cursor system² given by a single localized quantum field. This quantum field undergoes a period of non-uniform acceleration. Then the attainable precision is calculated in terms of the Quantum Fisher Information using recently developed techniques of relativistic quantum information [99, 100]. Their results show that while in the absence of motion a squeezed vacuum state is the best

²The cursor C needs to be accessed in some way in order to gain information, thus establishing the necessity of a register system R.

choice, coherent modes are more robust against the degradation of precision due to the non-uniform acceleration. Furthermore they propose testing the results obtained with superconducting resonators by hyper-fast tuning of the boundary conditions. A technique already proposed in [101] and [102] for earth-based experiments simulating relativistic effects in superconducting circuits.

In a regime sufficient for all today's practical purposes Relativistic Quantum Information seems to provide good approximations. Still it is not quite satisfying having to make the compromise of assuming a classical spacetime without knowing the mechanisms of its emergence. A possible mechanism that achieves the emergence of classicality without assuming a breakdown of Quantum Theory was proposed by Vienna based physicists Pikovski, Zych, Costa and Brukner in [103]. For this purpose they derive an effective Schrödinger equation that incorporates general relativistic corrections due to time dilation. The proposed decoherence due to time dilation arises even when there is no (known) coupling to an external environment. That means that one cannot shield the hourglass against this kind of decoherence without taking it to a spacetime region with no time dilation. For microscopic hourglasses this may not be of big importance but for hourglasses that use composite systems of gram scale this means that no large vertical superposition can be sustained even on a microsecond scale. Note also that in this mechanism the decoherence time depends on the temperature therefore it can be considered being a genuinely relativistic, thermodynamic and quantum effect [103].

Another relativistic effect proposed by the same group of physicist can entail serious consequences for an hourglass that is implemented as an interferometer (as e.g. the thermal hourglass in section 3.3). In [104] they show that using interferometer in a gravitational field the visibility is reduced if the particle has a degree of freedom that can be considered a 'clock' (in the context of this thesis corresponding to the cursor system C, see footnote 3). They phrase the interferometric visibility \mathcal{V} solely in terms of the time dilation between the trajectories τ and t_{\perp} ,

$$\mathcal{V} = \left| \cos \left(\frac{\tau}{t_{\perp}} \frac{\pi}{2} \right) \right|. \tag{57}$$

Thus if the time dilation τ is equal to t_{\perp} which means that the proper time difference is physically accessible, the interference fringes vanish. In the case that one does not consider a degree of freedom that can be seen as a 'clock'/cursor, the visibility is always maximal, as no which-path information is available. Furthermore they propose that this effect can be used in order to test whether proper time is a new quantum degree of freedom [104].

Note that the limitations on the measurement of spacetime distances have already been explored in the late 50's by Salecker and Wigner [105, 107]. In conclusion it is indicated that above relativistic considerations about the hourglass are surely not exhaustive. Which for now, in a time where no generally recognized unification of Relativity and Quantum Theory has been brought to the table yet, is simply not possible. Still an important point was made, namely, that a careful analysis incorporating relativistic effects is indeed necessary even in situations where one naïvely might think assuming a non-relativistic framework is sound.

4 Synchronization and Causality

This idea that there is generality in the specific is of far-reaching importance.

Douglas R. Hofstadter [108]

When one takes scenarios into account where there is more than one hourglass, the analysis becomes more intricated especially if the hourglasses reside in seperated labs. Quantum Information contains powerful tools and concepts that are well suited to analyze such scenarios. One example would be to formulate tasks as games allowing different strategies to be compared in terms of their winning probability. But before we can start the digression into the topics of synchronization and causality, it has to be made clear that these questions very much depend upon what resources one is allowed use. Especially in the case of synchronization the assumptions chosen should be made evident in order to enable one to put results and ideas into the right context.

First of all one has to mention that as soon as one takes communication into account, the assumption of the isolated lab in the hourglass model is relaxed in the following sense. For the events of receiving or sending a system from/to other agents the laboratory needs to be opened, in between such events however it remains isolated from the rest of the universe. Moreover the only assumption made is the local validity of Quantum Theory. In principal no global properties of spacetime or any predefined global ordering in terms of causality needs to be assumed ³. Indications that such assumptions are sensical, in order to gain the ability to check fundamental properties of the world we live in, were given by results in the recent past showing that

³This is in accordance with the framework proposed by Oreshkov, Costa and Brukner [111] proposed in order to discuss situations with no predefined causal order.

(within reasonable assumptions) the structure of the probabilistic theory underlying Quantum Theory cannot be modified $[109, 110]^4$.

One of the most restrictive cases one can think of to analyze the synchronization of hourglasses is to allow for no communication between them, testing the fundamental limitations of their ability to remain synchronized in a separable fashion.



Figure 12: Schematic representation of a basic scenario for a synchronization game with two parties

The simplest case would be to take only two parties into account. In the schematic illustration drawn in figure 12 Momo acts as referee, deciding whether Alice's and Bob's hourglasses are synchronized. In such a setting Ranković, Liang and Renner show in [35] that one can place a bound on the number of synchronized 'ticks' produced. Assuming the existence of a global background parameter t they achieve a bound that is stated solely in terms

⁴One possible modification would be to extend or replace Quantum Theory with a more general probabilistic theory. In [109] this would result in either the need for dropping the assumption of free choice or the validity of relativistic spacetime. [110] shows that such a modification is not possible without changing the dimensionality of space.

of the dimension of the cursor system d_C and a quantity characterizing the quality of synchronization. Moreover they propose a specific synchronization game [35] based on this very scenario in order to gain the ability to construct a global ordering scale that could replace our present ambiguous notion of time. This is a very interesting line of research. The next logical step would be to go beyond the two-party scenario. To look at multipartite scenarios (depicted in figure 13) seems to be necessary in order to make conclusive statements. Indications in this direction can be found in the next paragraph.



Figure 13: Schematic representation of a basic scenario for a synchronization game with n > 2 players

We will see in the following short story conveyed about the recent history of Causality Theory⁵ that the establishment of two-party results does not necessarily allow for statements in *n*-player scenarios (with n > 2). In 2011 the framework proposed by Oreshkov, Costa and Brukner (OCB) [111] allowed them to arrive at astonishing results, namely, they found correlations that do not admit a definite causal order, thus violating a causal inequality.

⁵For the interested reader that is not satisfied the following references are recommended [150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155].

Moreover they showed that in this two-party scenario causal structure automatically arises in the classical limit. The topic was taken up by Lugano based scientists Baumeler and Wolf complementing the OCB framework with two tripartite non-causal games early this year [112]. Not long after that Baumeler, Feix and Wolf surprisingly put the multipartite question to rest showing that in the tripartite case the statement that predefined causal order always emerges in the classical limit does not hold true [113]. This adds once more an interesting peculiarity to the 'not predefined yet correlated'[113] connection of systems that initially disturbed Einstein, Podolski and Rosen so much that they decided to consider Quantum Theory as incomplete [23]. As there exists an seemingly infinite amount of literature on the very topic of such correlations here the interested reader is referred to a drastically limited personal selection of references [23, 114, 115]⁶.

As a last part of this section a recent paper in which the authors propose a quantum network of 'clocks' will be discussed [116]⁷. Analyzing the scheme proposed in [116] in the new context of the hourglass one finds that the scheme should rather be seen as establishing one clock/hourglass with a register/cursor that manifests in different space-liked separated locations but that is still correlated due to the use of entanglement. Thus it can be seen as an example were one uses the results presented in section 2.2. This means using M coupled channels to transmit M times more bits in the same time t_{\perp} given the same power P as it would be possible with a single qubit channel. The drawback of the scheme they propose is that an exponential scaling use of entanglement is necessary in order to attain and sustain a Heisenberg scaling for this world clock/hourglass [116].

⁶The author of this thesis is pretty sure that iterating a process where one takes into account the bibliography of the cited publications and articles that refer to the cited publications, the set of reasonable publications on this topic that cannot be found by this 'algorithm' is of measure zero.

⁷Note that so far no specifications about the size of the laboratory have been made such that one may as well take it to be given by the rest of the universe.

5 The Future

The future is unwritten.

The Clash [106]

The hourglass was defined so general it basically contains nearly any system. This was done on purpose to achieve the ability to analyze different types of clocks in different physical and information-theoretical scenarios within the same framework. It is also very useful as any system can serve as a clock [117]. Some serve their purpose well, some don't, depending on the set of requirements. For example me playing the drums would not be a well suited system for a globally synchronized time needed to operate the United States government's global positioning system. Thus one of the most urging questions "What is a good clock and how can we characterize it?" still remains open. An interesting approach to tackle this problem would be to construct a resource theory (see [118] for an interesting paper that appeared last week and today's [119]) for hourglasses. Maybe this is not yet attainable in general but one could start to do so for a given set of scenarios. Interesting work in this direction has already been done by Janzing and Beth [120]. Such that one could also start the task by revisiting the extensive work done by both authors on timing information in the light of the quantum hourglass.

The hourglass was meant to serve as a way to model/implement an autonomously working clock that may be part of a microscopic machine in need of timing information. Having in mind that the hourglass model is computationally universal one particular interesting direction for further research are certainly quantum celular automata [121, 122, 123]. Except for wondering what the halting problem [124] means for an hourglass, note that in such microscopic scenario the assumption of the isolated lab seems a little to idealistic such that one probably also has to consider cases where the overall state is not pure anymore, i.e.

$$\rho_{CRL} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}_{CRL}). \tag{58}$$

However I think that one should not limit the potential of the hourglass model by just taking into account microscopic considerations. This statement stems from the observation that situations on very small scales and very large scales can inherit duality [125]. Thus I think that the hourglass may also be of importance for quantum cosmology [126, 127]. In my personal opinion I see the universe itself as the largest hourglass we can imagine/observe.

Another promising approach, I could imagine, is to employ a very powerful technique called compressed quantum sensing [128, 129, 130, 131]. This follows the following intuition: The optimal interaction for an hourglass is to have no interaction. In this way the cursor system C could evolve freely without being disturbed. The problem is that if we have no interaction we also have no information about the cursor. Here compressed sensing comes into play providing a way to make use of the sparse data provided through an minuscule interaction. These techniques could probably also come in handy if one thinks of using vacuum fluctuations as a cursor system [132]. A schematic illustration of such a possible vacuum hourglass is given in figure 14.



Figure 14: Quantum hourglass where vacuum fluctuations are used as a cursor system C

So far adiabaticity was only shortly addressed in the beginning in this thesis. Here we want to catch up a little on this topic as it brings along interesting questions. One might for example wonder how the relation between Hamiltonian Quantum Computing and Adiabatic Quantum Computing relates to the quantum hourglass. Moreover recent results obtained on super-adiabatic quantum engines might prove crucial for the implementation of the quantum hourglass [133]. Further research in this direction should certainly be conducted in the future.

In section 3 the possibility of an hourglass equipped with a memory system M was stated. I imagine such an additional operational part could be helpful in various situations. To give an example, consider the case where the memory M is correlated with the cursor C. From a quantum information point of view this allows for the establishment of an entanglement assisted channel. Another example is to consider correlations between the memory Mand the register R. In such a setting one could guarantee that no information is passed on from the register R to the cursor C through e.g. monogamy of entanglement. Maybe such hourglasses (depicted in figure 15) are not implementable yet but they can still serve as theoretical playground for further research.



Figure 15: Quantum hourglass where correlation between the memory system M and the cursor system C (top)/the register system R (bottom) are available

The future is probably also the right time to think about how to use our correlations, i.e. time. Examples for such can be found in the literature exhaustively, see e.g. [134, 135, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141].



Figure 16: Quantum chronometer - chain of hourglasses connected via periodic entanglement of scale (see text)

Finally I want to touch on a highly speculative idea that could boost the time resolution of an hourglass somehow similar to the workings of the gears in a bicycle or mechanical watch. This idea of a quantum chronometer is depicted in figure 16. A necessary condition for such a device would be that one is provided with an periodic entanglement of scale. By periodic entanglement of scale I mean that for example the register of hourglass 1 is coupled to the cursor of hourglass 2 in such a way that it triggers cursor 2 to tick after itself having ticked 5 times. The previous example would result in the quantum analog to a 5:1 gear. Each hourglass should be ticking at the maximum rate (given by the Margolus-Levitin or a generalized bound) such that in the end reading of the last register in this chain would enable one to measure time with a higher time resolution (determined by the different gear ratios) than actually possible in the accessed hourglass standing

by itself. It is an entanglement of scale as the two degrees of freedom entangled live on different (energy) scales. So far this is pure speculation, but it would be highly desirable to either be able to engineer such a mechanism or to find it appearing naturally in some part of our microscopic environment.

Last but not least I want to mention that in the future definitely more attention should be paid to the Zych-Zielinski-Kosinski bound (generalized Margolus-Levitin bound)

$$t_{\perp} \ge \frac{\pi\hbar}{2^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \langle \psi | E^{\alpha} | \psi \rangle^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}},\tag{59}$$

than I was able to provide in this thesis.

6 Conclusion

... white chocolate soup with mint ...

Julien Degorre [142]

First an historic, mathematical and conceptual context was set in order to establish a general operational model for quantum clocks called quantum hourglass or short hourglass. Its ability to distinguish 'coarser and finer' time sequences in different physical and information-theoretic scenarios was discussed. Therefore different types of hourglasses were constructed. It was shown that for cases where the interaction between the two parts of the quantum hourglass can be modeled by a qubit channel the time resolution of the quantum hourglass is limited by its power consumption. Furthermore it was demonstrated that the hourglass is computationally universal as it allows for the implementation of an universal set of gates. Thus establishing a connection between computation and time. A section was dedicated to a short digresion into the realms of synchronization and causality, scenarios where such a model as the hourglass may prove very useful. In the section named 'Future' open problems were posed, some intuitions were considered and plain speculations were contemplated on.

7 Acknowledgements

42

[143, ?, 145, 146, 147, 149]

I extend gratitude to Renato Renner for interesting discussions and the possibility to visit the Beyond I.I.D. conference in Singapore. I would like to express my appreciation to Yeong-Cherng Liang and Sandra Ranković for the interesting and stimulating discussions, the valuable and helpful comments on my manuscript and the supervision they provided. I also wish to thank all other members of the Quantum Information Group at ETH Zürich; Jonas Studach for his capable help with the illustrations; Akimasa Miyake for his beautiful paper; Yaoyun Shi for the conversation we had at the Beyond I.I.D. BBQ; Caslav Brukner for the talk he gave at the Quantum [Un]Speakables II conference in Vienna; Aleksejs Fomins for asking actual questions; Marcus Huber for taking my ideas serious; Mira Maiwöger for being my intellectual sibling; Amin Baumeler, Benno Salwey and Stefan Wolf for profound contemplations; Fabien, Jan, Sina, Kevin,... for the good times we had in our 'office' and at mealtimes; Randomness; Lukas and Esther Schuler for caring support in Switzerland; 369 for keeping my life social and real; my family for unconditional and loving support; Anina for being the best.

I acknowledge support from Kärntner Industriebetriebe, Industriellenvereinigung and Wirtschaftskammer Kärnten through Auslands-Exzellenzstipendium 2013.

At the end, thanks to you, reader.

8 References

- [1] A. Miyake. Entropic time endowed in quantum correlation. arXiv: 1111.2855
- [2] A. Hermann, K. Meyen and V. Weisskopf. Wolfgang Pauli, Scientific Correspondence with Bohr, Einstein, Heisenberg. Springer, Berlin, 1979.
- [3] W. Pauli. Handbuch der Physik. Volume 23, p.1-278, Springer, Berlin, 1926.
- [4] J. Muga, R. Mayato and I. Egusquiza (eds.). Time in Quantum Mechanics. Lect. Notes Phys. 734, Springer, 2008.
- [5] P. Busch. On the Energy-Time Uncertainty Relation. Found. Phys. 20, 1, 1990.
- [6] P. Busch, M. Grabowski and P. Lahti. Operational Quantum Theory. Springer, Berlin, 1997.
- [7] L. Mandelstam and I. Tamm. The Uncertainty Relation Between Energy and Time in Non-relativistic Quantum Mechanics. J. Phys USSR 9, 249-254, 1945.
- [8] H. Arendt. Vita activa oder Vom tätigen Leben. EA 1960.
- [9] P. Mohr, B. Taylor and D. Newell The 2010 CODATA Recommended Values of the Fundamental Physical Constants. National Institute of Standards and Technology, Web Version 6.0, 2011.
- [10] N. Margolus and L. Levitin. The maximum speed of dynamical evolution. Physica D 120, 188-195, 1998.
- [11] H. Bremermann. Quantum noise and information. Procc. of the Fifth Berkeley Symp. Math. Stat. Prob., University of California Press, 1967.

- [12] J. Beckenstein. Entropy content and information flow in systems with limited energy. Phys. Rev. D 30, 1669-1679, 1984.
- [13] L. Levitin. Physical Limitations of Rate, Depth and Minimum Energy in Information Processing. Int. J. Th. Phys. 21, 3/4, 1982.
- [14] P. Kosinski and M. Zych. Elementary proof of the bound on the speed of quantum evolution. Phys. Rev. A 73, 024303, 2006.
- B. Zielinski and M. Zych. Generalization of the Margolus-Levitin bound. Phys. Rev. A 74, 034301, 2006.
- [16] A. Uhlmann. The "Transition Probability" in the State Space of a *-Algebra. Rep. Math. Phys. 9 (1976) 273 - 279.
- [17] M. Andrecut and M. Ali. The adiabatic analogue of the Margolus-Levitin theorem. J. Phys. A 37, 157-160, 2004.
- [18] A. Messiah. Quantum Mechanics Vol.II. North Holland Publishing Company, 1976.
- [19] E. Farhi, J. Goldstone, S. Gutmann and M. Sipser. Quantum Computation by Adiabatic Evolution. MIT-CTP-2936, 2000.
- [20] S. Lloyd. Power of Entanglement in Quantum Communication. Phys. Rev. Lett. 90, 167902, 2003.
- [21] M. Wilde. From Classical to Quantum Shannon Theory. arXiv:1106.1445.
- [22] S. Lloyd. Ultimate physical limits to computation. Nature 406, 1047-1054, 2000.
- [23] A. Einstein, B. Podolsky and N. Rosen. Can Quantum-Mechanical Description of Physical Reality Be Considered Complete?. Phys. Rev. 47, 777, 1935.

- [24] R. Werner. Quantum states with Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen correlations admitting a hidden-variable model. Phys. Rev. A 40, 8, 1989.
- [25] P. Feyerabend. Against Method: Outline of an Anarchistic Theory of Knowledge. (Eds.: M. Radner and S. Winokur) Analyses of Theories and Methods of Physics and Psychology, University of Minnesota Press, 1970.
- [26] M. Choi. Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices. Lin. Alg. App. 10, 285–290, 1975.
- [27] A. Jamiołkowski. Linear transformations which preserve trace and positive semidefiniteness of operators. Rep. Math. Phys. 3, 275–278, 1972.
- [28] A. Holevo. On the Choi-Jamiolkowski Correspondence in Infinite Dimensions. J. Math. Phys., 52, 042202, 2011.
- [29] C. Norris. Quantum Theory and the Flight from Realism: Philosophical Responses to Quantum Mechanics. Routledge, 234, 2000.
- [30] J. Bell. Speakable and Unspeakable in Quantum Mechanics: Collected Papers on Quantum Philosophy. Cambridge University Press, 190, 2004.
- [31] D. Page and W. Wootters. Evolution without evolution: Dynamics described by stationary observables. Phys. Rev. D 27, 2885, 1983.
- [32] W. Wootters. Time replaced by quantum correlation. Int. J. Phys 23, 701, 1984.
- [33] E. Moreva, G. Brida, M. Gramegna, V. Giovannetti, L. Maccone and M. Genovese. *Time from quantum entanglement: an experimental illustration.* Phys. Rev. A 89, 052122, 2014.
- [34] D. McCartor. The Hourglass Consequences of Pure Hamiltonian Evolution of a Radiating System. arXiv: 0704.0420.

- [35] S. Ranković, Y-C. Liang and R. Renner. Local and gobal clocks in quantum mechanics - limitations to building global ordering scales out of two local quantum clocks. In preparation, 2014.
- [36] R. Feynman. Quantum Mechanical Computers. Opt. News 11, 11-20, 1985.
- [37] D. Nagaj. Fast Universal Quantum Computation with Railroad-switch Local Hamiltonians. J. Math. Phys. 51, 062201, 2010.
- [38] D. de Falco and D. Tamascelli. Speed and entropy of an interacting continous time quantum walk. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 39, 5873-5895, 2006.
- [39] T. Rosenband, D. Hume, P. Schmidt, C. Chou, A. Brusch, L. Lorini, W. Oskay, R. Drullinger, T. Fortier, J.Stalnaker, S. Diddams, W. Swann, N. Newbury, W. Itano, D. Wineland and J. Bergquist. Frequency Ratio of Al⁺ and Hg⁺ Single-Ion Optical Clocks; Metrology at the 17th Decimal Place. Science 319, 1808-1812, 2008.
- [40] P. Schmidt, T. Rosenband, C. Langer, W. Itano, J. Bergquist and D. Wineland. Spectroscopy Using Quantum Logic. Science 309, 749-752, 2005.
- [41] C. Chou, D. Hume, J. Koelemeij, D. Wineland and T. Rosenband. Frequency Comparison of Two High-Accuracy Al⁺ Optical Clocks. Phys. Rev. Lett. 104, 070802, 2010.
- [42] C. Williams. *Explorations in Quantum Computing*. Springer, London, 2011.
- [43] G. Brassard, P. Høyer and A. Tapp. Quantum Counting. Lecture Notes in Computer Science Volume 1443, 820-831, 1998.
- [44] L. Grover. Quantum mechanics helps in searching for a needle in a haystack. Phys. Rev. Lett. 79, 325-328, 1997.

- [45] P. Shor. Polynomial-time algorithms for prime factorization and discrete logarithms on a quantum computer. SIAM J. Comp. 26, 1484-1509, 1997.
- [46] G. Lesovik, M. Suslov and G. Blatter. *Quantum counting algorithm and its application in mesoscopic physics*. Phys. Rev. A 82, 012316, 2010.
- [47] L. Levitov, H. Lee and G. Lesovik. Electron counting statistics and coherent states of electric current. J. Math. Phys. 37, 4845, 1996.
- [48] J. Keeling, I. Klich and L. Levitov. Minimal Excitation States of Electrons in One-Dimensional Wires. Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 116403, 2006.
- [49] G. Fève, A. Mahé, J.-M. Berroir, T. Kontos, B. Plaçais, D. C. Glattli, A. Cavanna, B. Etienne and Y. Jin. An On-Demand Coherent Single-Electron Source. Science 316, 1169-1172, 2007.
- [50] M. Longair. Galaxy Formation. Springer, 2008.
- [51] L. Boltzmann. On Certain Questions of the Theory of Gases. Nature 51, 413-415, 1895.
- [52] H. Price. Time's Arrow and Archimedes' Point. Oxford University Press, New York, 1996.
- [53] A. Eddington. *The Nature of the Physical World*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1928.
- [54] P. Davies. The Physics of Time Asymmetry. University of California Press, 1977.
- [55] S. Carroll. From Eternity to Here: The Quest for the Ultimate Theory of Time. Dutton, 2010.
- [56] J. Barrow, P. Davies, C. Harper. *Science and Ultimate Reality*. Cambridge University Press, 2004.

- [57] D. Page. Inflation does not explain time asymmetry. Nature 304, 39-41, 1983.
- [58] E. Lieb and M. Ruskai. Proof of the strong subadditivity of quantummechanical entropy. J. Math. Phys. 14, 1938, 1973.
- [59] M. Nielsen and I. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [60] M. Nielsen and D. Petz. A simple proof of the strong subadditivity inequality. Quantum Information Computation, 5, 6, 2005.
- [61] M. Ruskai. Another Short and Elementary Proof of Strong Subadditivity of Quantum Entropy. Reports on Mathematical Physics 60, 1-12, 2007.
- [62] N. Beaudry and R. Renner. An intuitive proof of the data processing inequality. Quantum Inf. Comput. 12, 0432-0441, 2012.
- [63] M. Horodecki, J. Oppenheim and A. Winter. Quantum state merging and negative information. Comm. Math. Phys. 269, 107, 2007.
- [64] M. Horodecki, J. Oppenheim and A. Winter. Partial quantum information. Nature 436, 673-676, 2005.
- [65] E. Carlen and E. Lieb. A Minkowski Type Trace Inequality and Strong Subadditivity of Quantum Entropy. Am. Math. Soc. Trans. 2, 189, 59-69, 1999.
- [66] E. Carlen and E. Lieb. A Minkowski Type Trace Inequality and Strong Subadditivity of Quantum Entropy II: Convexity and Concavity. Lett. Math. Phys. 83, 107-126, 2008.
- [67] M. Headrick and T. Takayanagi. A holographic proof of the strong subadditivity of entanglement entropy. Phys.Rev.D 76, 106013, 2007.

- [68] T. Hirata and T. Takayanagi. AdS/CFT and Strong Subadditivity of Entanglement Entropy. JHEP 0702, 042, 2007.
- [69] P. Hayden, R. Jozsa, D. Petz and A. Winter. Structure of states which satisfy strong subadditivity of quantum entropy with equality. Commun. Math. Phys. 246(2),359-374, 2004.
- [70] A. Holevo. Bounds for the Quantity of Information Transmitted by a Quantum Communication Channel. Probl. Peredachi Inf. 9, 3, 3–11, 1973.
- [71] S. Popescu, A. Short and A. Winter. *Entanglement and the foundations* of statistical mechanics. Nature Physics 2, 754 - 758, 2006.
- [72] S. Lloyd. Black Holes, Demons, and the Loss of Coherence: How complex systems get information and what they do with it,. Ph.D. Thesis, Rockefeller University, 1988.
- [73] A. Connes and C. Rovelli. Von Neumann Algebra Automorphisms and Time-Thermodynamics Relation in General Covariant Quantum Theories. Class. Quant. Grav.11, 2899-2918, 1994.
- [74] S. Jevtic, D. Newman, T. Rudolph and T. Stace. Single qubits as thermometers. arXiv:1408.6967
- [75] T. Stace. Quantum limits of thermometry . Phys. Rev. A 82, 011611, 2010.
- [76] C. Caves. Quantum mechanical noise in an interferometer. Phys. Rev. D 23, 1693, 1981.
- [77] P. Kok, S. Braunstein and J. Dowling. Quantum lithography, entanglement and Heisenberg-limited parameter estimation. J. Opt. B 6, 811-815, 2004.

- [78] L. de Broglie. Recherches sur la théorie des quanta. Ph.D. thesis, Paris, 1924; Ann. de Physique (10) 3, 22, 1925.
- [79] C. Davisson and L. Germer. Diffraction of Electrons by a Crystal of Nickel. Phys. Rev. 30, 705, 1927.
- [80] E. Schrödinger. Über die kräftefreie Bewegung in der relativistischen Quantenmechanik. Sitzungsberichte preuss. Akad. Wiss., Phys.-Math. Kl. 24, 1930.
- [81] D. Hestenes. The zitterbewegung interpretation of quantum mechanics. Found. Phys. 20, 1213-1232, 1990.
- [82] Comptes Rendus de la 1^e CGPM (1889), 34, 1890.
- [83] Comptes Rendus de la 13^e CGPM (1967/68), 103, 1969.
- [84] S. Lan, P. Kuan, B. Estey, D. English, J. Brown, M. Hohensee and H. Müller. A Clock Directly Linking Time to a Particle's Mass. Science 339, 554-557, 2013.
- [85] P. Wolf, L. Blanchet, C. Bordé, S. Reynaud, C. Salomon and C. Cohen-Tannoudji. *Testing the Gravitational Redshift with Atomic Gravimeters?*. Proceedings of the joint European Time and Frequency Forum and IEEE Frequency Control Symposium, 2011.
- [86] P. Wolf, L. Blanchet, C. Bordé, S. Reynaud, C. Salomon and C. Cohen-Tannoudji. Reply to the comment on: "Does an atom interferometer test the gravitational redshift at the Compton frequency?". Class. Quantum Grav. 29, 048002, 2012.
- [87] S. Lan, P. Kuan, B. Estey, D. English, J. Brown, M. Hohensee and H. Müller. Does an atom interferometer test the gravitational redshift at the Compton frequency? . Class. Quantum Grav. 28, 145017, 2011.

- [88] M. Hohensee, S. Chu, A. Peters and H. Müller. Comment on: "Does an atom interferometer test the gravitational redshift at the Compton frequency?". Class. Quant, Grav. 29, 048001, 2012.
- [89] H. Müller. Quantum mechanics, matter waves, and moving clocks. To be published in the proceedings of the International School of Physics "Enrico Fermi" 2013, Course 188 - Atom Interferometry.
- [90] W. Schleich, D. Greenberger and E. Rasel. A representation-free description of the Kasevich-Chu interferometer: a resolution of the redshift controversy. New J. Phys. 15, 013007, 2013.
- [91] P. Catillon, N. Cue, M. Gaillard, R. Genre, M. Gouanère, R. Kirsch, J. Poizat, J. Remillieux, L. Roussel and M. Spighel . A Search for the de Broglie Particle Internal Clock by Means of Electron Channeling. Found. Phys. 38, 659-664, 2008.
- [92] L. LeBlanc, M. Beeler, K. Jiménez-García, A. Perry, S. Sugawa, R. Williams and I. Spielman. Direct observation of zitterbewegung in a Bose-Einstein condensate. New J. Phys. 15, 073011, 2013.
- [93] R. Gerritsma, G. Kirchmair, F. Zähringer, E. Solano, R. Blatt and C. Roos. Quantum simulation of the Dirac equation. Nature 463, 68-71, 2010.
- [94] B. DeWitt. Quantum Theory of Gravity. I. The Canonical Theory. Phys. Rev. 160, 1113, 1967.
- [95] C. Rovelli. Quantum mechanics without time: A model. Phys. Rev. D 42, 2638, 1990.
- [96] A. Peres. Measurement of time by quantum clocks. Am. J. Phys. 48, 552, 1980.

- [97] R. Gambini, R. Porto and J. Pullin. A relational solution to the problem of time in quantum mechanics and quantum gravity: a fundamental mechanism for quantum decoherence. New J. Phys. 6, 45, 2004.
- [98] J. Lindkvist, C. Sabín, G. Johansson and I. Fuentes. *Motion and gravity* effects in the precision of quantum clocks. arXiv:1409.4235
- [99] D. Bruschi, J. Louko, D. Faccio and I. Fuentes. Mode-mixing quantum gates and entanglement without particle creation in periodically accelerated cavities. New J. Phys. 15, 073052, 2013.
- [100] M. Ahmadi, D. Bruschi and I. Fuentes. Quantum metrology for relativistic quantum fields. Phys. Rev. D 89, 065028, 2014.
- [101] C. Wilson, G. Johansson, A. Pourkabirian, M. Simoen, J. Johansson, T. Duty, F. Nori and P. Delsing. Observation of the dynamical Casimir effect in a superconducting circuit. Nature 479, 376–379, 2011.
- [102] N. Friis, A. Lee, K. Truong, C. Sabín, E. Solano, G. Johansson and I. Fuentes. *Relativistic Quantum Teleportation with Superconducting Circuits.* Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 113602, 2013.
- [103] I. Pikovski, M. Zych, F. Costa and C. Brukner. Universal decoherence due to gravitational time dilation. arXiv:1311.1095
- [104] M. Zych, F. Costa, I. Pikovski and C. Brukner. Quantum interferometric visibility as a witness of general relativistic proper time. Nat. Commun. 2, 505, 2011.
- [105] H. Salecker and E. Wigner. Quantum Limitations of the Measurement of Space-Time Distances. Phys. Rev. 109, 2, 1958.
- [106] The Clash. Know Your Rights. CBS Records, UK & Ireland, 23 April 1982.

- [107] E. Wigner. Relativistic Invariance and Quantum Phenomena. Rev. Mod. Phys. 29, 3, 1957.
- [108] D. Hofstadter. Gödel, Escher, Bach: An Eternal Golden Braid. Basic Books, 1999 (1979).
- [109] R. Colbeck and R. Renner No extension of quantum theory can have improved predictive power. Nature Comm. 2, 411, 2011.
- [110] M. Müller and L. Masanes. Three-dimensionality of space and the quantum bit: an information-theoretic approach. New J. Phys. 15, 053040, 2013.
- [111] O. Oreshkov, F. Costa, and C. Brukner. Quantum correlations with no causal order. Nature Comm. 3, 1092, 2012.
- [112] A. Baumeler and Stefan Wolf.. Perfect signaling among three parties violating predefined causal order. Proc. Int. Symp. Inf. Th. (ISIT) 2014, 526-530, 2014.
- [113] A. Baumeler, A. Feix and Stefan Wolf. Maximal incompatibility of locally classical behavior and global causal order in multi-party scenarios. arXiv:1403.7333
- [114] J. Bell. Bertlmann's socks and the nature of reality. Journal de Physique 42, C2, 1981.
- [115] S. Kochen and E. Specker. The problem of hidden variables in quantum mechanics. J. Math. and Mech. 17, 59–87, 1967.
- [116] P. Kómár, E. Kessler, M. Bishof, L. Jiang, A. Sørensen, J. Ye and M. Lukin. A quantum network of clocks. Nature Phys. 10, 582–587, 2014.
- [117] A. Turner. Time Museum Catalogue of the Collection: Time Measuring Instruments. Time Museum, 1986.

- [118] B. Coecke, T. Fritz and R. Spekkens. A mathematical theory of resources. arXiv:1409.5531
- [119] N. Halpern. Beyond heat baths II: Framework for generalized thermodynamic resource theories. arXiv:1409.7845
- [120] D. Janzing and T. Beth. Quasi-order of clocks and synchronism and quantum bounds for copying timing information. IEEE Trans. Inf. Th. 49(1), 230-240, 2003.
- [121] C. Lent, M. Liu and Y. Lu. Bennett clocking of quantum-dot cellular automata and the limits to binary logic scaling. Nanotechnology 17(16), 4240-4251, 2006.
- [122] M. Liu and C. Lent. Bennett and Landauer clocking in quantum-dot cellular automata. Computational Electronics, 2004. IWCE-10 2004. Abstracts.
- [123] A. Kumari and S.Bhanja. Landauer Clocking for Magnetic Cellular Automata (MCA) Arrays. IEEE Trans. 19, 714-717, 2011.
- [124] A. Church. A Note on the Entscheidungsproblem. J. Symbolic Logic 1, 40-41, 1936.
- [125] F. Darabi. Large scale-small scale duality and cosmological constant. Phys.Lett. A259, 97-103, 1999.
- [126] C. Burrage, E. Copeland and E. Hinds. Probing Dark Energy with Atom Interferometry. arXiv:1408.1409
- [127] N. Liu, J. Goold, I. Fuentes, V. Vedral, K. Modi and D. Bruschi. Quantum thermodynamics for a model of an expanding universe. arXiv:1409.5283
- [128] D. Gross, Y. Liu, S. Flammia, S. Becker and J. Eisert. Quantum state tomography via compressed sensing. Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 150401, 2010.

- [129] S. Flammia, D. Gross, Y. Liu and J. Eisert. Quantum Tomography via Compressed Sensing: Error Bounds, Sample Complexity, and Efficient Estimators. New J. Phys. 14, 095022, 2012.
- [130] R. Kueng and D. Gross. *RIPless compressed sensing from anisotropic measurements*. Linear Algebra and its Applications 441, 110-123, 2014.
- [131] D. Gross, F. Krahmer and R. Kueng. A Partial Derandomization of PhaseLift using Spherical Designs. arXiv:1310.2267
- [132] C. Ciuti, G. Bastard and I. Carusotto. Quantum vacuum properties of the intersubband cavity polariton field. Phys. Rev. B 72, 115303, 2005.
- [133] A. del Campo, J. Gooldand and M. Paternostro. More bang for your buck: Super-adiabatic quantum engines. Scientific Reports 4, 6208, 2014.
- [134] M. Huber, M. Perarnau-Llobet, K. Hovhannisyan, P. Skrzypczyk, C. Klöckl, N. Brunner and A. Acín *Thermodynamic cost of creating correlations.* arXiv:1404.2169
- [135] M. Huber and R. Sengupta. Witnessing genuine multipartite entanglement with positive maps. Phys. Rev. Lett. 113, 100501, 2014.
- [136] M. Perarnau-Llobet, K. Hovhannisyan, M. Huber, P. Skrzypczyk, N. Brunner and A. Acín *Extracting work from correlations*. arXiv:1407.7765
- [137] D. Bruschi, M. Perarnau-Llobet, N. Friis, K. Hovhannisyan and M. Huber The thermodynamics of creating correlations: limitations and optimal protocols. arXiv:1409.4647
- [138] R. Gallego, L. Würflinger, A. Acín and M. Navascués. Operational Framework for Nonlocality. Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 070401, 2012.
- [139] J. Bancal, J. Barrett, N. Gisin and S. Pironio. Definitions of multipartite nonlocality. Phys. Rev. A 88, 014102, 2013.

- [140] F. Curchod, Y-C. Liang and N. Gisin. Multipartite Nonlocality as a Resource and Quantum Correlations Having Indefinite Causal Order. arXiv:1310.7598
- [141] F. Curchod, Y-C. Liang and N. Gisin. *Quantifying multipartite nonlo*cality via the size of the resource. In preparation, 2014.
- [142] J. Degorre. Private Communication.
- [143] http://www.42.com/
- [144] Risk. Hasbro (orig. Parker Brothers) and Winning Moves Games USA, 1959.
- [145] http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/42
- [146] D. Adams (edited by Geoffrey Perkins). The Original Hitchhiker Radio Scripts. Pan Books, London, 1985
- [147] L. Carroll. Alice's Adventures in Wonderland. Macmillan and Co, 1865.
- [148] Number of dots on a pair of standard six-sided dice.
- [149] W. Shakespeare. *Romeo And Juliet.* Act IV, Scene I, approximately between 1591 and 1595.
- [150] C. Brukner *Quantum causality*. Nature Physics 10, 259–263, 2014.
- [151] J. Pearl. *Causality: Models, Reasoning and Inference.* Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [152] J. Fitzsimons, J. Jones and V. Vedral. *Quantum correlations which imply causation*. arXiv:1302.2731
- [153] L. Hardy. Quantum gravity computers: On the theory of computation with indefinite causal structure. arXiv:quant-ph/0701019

- [154] J. Bancal, S. Pironio, A. Acín, Y-C. Liang, V. Scarani and N. Gisin. Quantum non-locality based on finite-speed causal influences leads to superluminal signalling. Nature Physics 8, 867–870, 2012.
- [155] K. Gödel. Über formal unentscheidbare Sätze der Principia Mathematica und verwandter Systeme I. Monatshefte für Mathematik und Physik 38, 173-198, 1931.